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WARD No. 2.—Continued.
T l.:;':[‘".i P,UT '[‘]'F .
uu'I[‘::I?,I’Ii‘I-IOI‘vTAb LORENZO BURRI 290, Goswell Road, E.c.
o |Mr. JAMES JOHNSON .. .. 50, Baker Street, w.c.
S !Mr. HENRY PULLEN .. .. 9, Granville Square, W.c
= er. ARTHUR NEWTON ... .. o, Upper Baker Street, w.
Mr. THOMAS WILLIAM WHITE... 33, Wilmington Sq.; w.c.

WARD No. 3.

All that portion of the Parish within a line drawn along the Pentonville-road, from th
north-west corner of Claremont-sguare, to the junction of the City-road and Goswell-roa
thence down Goswell-road to corner of Spencer-street, including Nos, 290 to 320 on th
north-east side of Goswell-road and Nos. 1 and 30, in Sidney-street, thence along Spencer
street, Myddelton-street, Rosoman-street and Amywell-street to the north-west corner o
Claremont-square.

Mr. GEORGE BEARD «: 22, Green Terrace, E.C.

& |Mr. CHARLES FORTESCUE ... 42, Amwell Street, E.C.

S |Mr. HENRY AUGUSTUS GARN... 101,St. JohnStreet Rd.,E.c
(Mr. BENJAMIN PARFREY MENDHAM 14, Sekforde Street, E.C
(Mr. WILLIAM ROBSON, ].P. .+ 40, Myddelton Square, &.c.

= |Mr. DANIEL COOKSEY ... .. 52, Amwell Street,z.c.

S | Mr, JOHN CROWLE-SMITH ... 25, Lloyd Square, w.c.
|Mr. JOHN HENRY CRICHTON (decd.) 308, Goswell Road, E.c.
‘Mr. REUBEN SQUIRE ... 327, Goswell Road, E.c.

& |Mr. FREDERICK GEORGE SCHEIB 36, Claremont Square, N..

S |Mr. ALFRED GEORGE BALL ... 219, Goswell Road, E.c.
(Mr. ARTHUR WHITE .. 53, Myddelton Street, E.c.

WARD No. 4

L]

All that portion of the Parish within a line drawn from Goswell-road, along the centre o
Spencer-street, Myddelton-street, Exmounth-street, Mount-pleasant, to the boundary of th
Parish, thence along the line of the Old Fleet Ditch to Farringdon-road, opposite Clerken
weii-green, thence along Clerkenwell-green (north side of Sessiors-house) and Aylesbury
street to St. John-street, thence up the centre of St. John-sireet to Percival-street, along
the centre of Percival-atreet, and up Goswell-road to Spencer-street.

Mr. FREDERICK GEORGE STUART 5 & 54, Bath Street, E.c.

aq |Mr. EDWIN JOHN PENNY ... 36, Wharton Street, w.c.
o (Mr, WM., HENRY PENGELLY .. =213,Northampton Bgs.,E.C

25 {Mr. HENRY MUNDY ... 325,Northampton Bgs.,E.C
Mr. EDWARD JOHN PEARSON ... 45, St. John St. Road, E.G
\Mr. WALTER FREDk. ABRAHAMS 65&7, Rosoman Street, E.C

Mr. Wu, ROBINSON PUTTERILL o4, Farringdon Road, E.c.
{Mr. JOSEPH WALTON .. .. 7UpgerCharlesStreet, E.C

— |Mr. THOMAS WILDBORE ... ... 16g, Iarringdon Road, E.c.
L {Mr. HERBERT GODDARD BARNES g8, Farringdon Road, E.¢
— |Mr. FRED THOMS ... .- 41, Spencer Street, E.c.

Mr ANDREW WATSON ... ... 57, Farringdon Road Build

ings, E.C.






COMMITTEES.

FINANCE COMMITTEE.
E. H. TRIPP, Esq., J.P., Ba-Oficio.

Warp 1. Mr. R. W. HALE
» W, BRAY
» A. BARRY

WagD 2, Mr. J, JOHNSON
» C.F. BRUST
», . H. BURNS
» T.A. BRUNJES

Warp 3. Mr. D, COOKSEY
» J. CROWLE-SMITH, V.-Chmn.
i Ht ..&.. EERH

Warp 4, Mr. A. WATSON
» H. G. BARNES
s 4. T. ENIGHAT
s H MUNDY
w BE. J. PENNY, Crawman

Warp 6. Mr T. E. DICKSON
»w 9:- F. GREENHILL
» W. LEMMING
» P. R. PRATT

PUBLIC HEALTH
COMMITTEE.
E. 1, TRIPP, Esq., J.P., Fa-Offcio.

Waun 1. Mr, 0. G. GIBSON, Vice-Chairman
» 8. 0.RICHARDS
» J.A. BEINNER

Warn 2, Mr. 0. F. BRUST
s A.T. MILLWARD
» D. WILLIAMS

WieD 3. Mr. ¥, G. SCHEIB
,, 0. FORTESCUER
» H.A. GARN
» D, COOKSEY

Warn 4. Mr. T. M. GRIFFITHS
»n F.G.STUART
» 1. WILDBORE
» W.R. PUTTERILL

Warp 5. Mr. F. G. BOCLTON -3
» B JONEB, M.R.0.8., Chairs
,» H. BLADON
. J.8. RNIGHT
w P. K. PRATT

WORKS COMMITTEE
E. H. TRIPP, Bsq, J.P., Fa-Offcio,

Warp 1. Mr. G. BASSETT
»n C. G. GIBSON
» J. GIBBON

Warp 2, Mr, T. A. BRUNJES, Chai
» T.L. BURRI
» F. PRTTITT
» J. ROBINSON

Warp 3. Mr. G. BEARD, Vice-Chairman.
» B.P. MENDHAM

WakD 4. Mr. E. J. PEARSON
, P. MELVILL
» W.F. ABRAHAMS
» J.T. ENIGHT
., R.STEBBINGS
, J. WALTON

Warn 6. Mr. A. MILLWARD
» A. MIGNOT
F. G. BOUOLTON
J. S, ENIGHT

*
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_ VORES SUB-COMMITTEES,

TO VISIT WHARF.

T. A. BRUNJES, Chairman
G. BEARD, Tice-Chairman
F. PETTITT

B. P, MENDHAM

. L. BURRI

A, MILLWARD

J. ROBINSON

0. G. GIBSON

B. J. PEARSON

Re OPEN SPACES.

T. A. BRUNJES, Chairman
G. BEARD, Vice-Chairman
G. BASSETT

T. L. BURRI

E. J. PEARSON

F. G. BOULTON

J. WALTON

LUATION COMMITTEE.
" E. H. TRIPP, Esq., J.P., Ea-Officio

» 1. Mr. G. BASSETT
» C. RANDALL
;s J. A. SEINNER

2. Mr. T. L. BURRI, Vice-Chairman
» A.NEWTON

Y J. ROBINSON

» D. WILLIAMS

Al 3‘- M!‘. ﬁ.i G- B&[JL
s, G. BEARD

» A WATSON

., R. STEBBINGS
» F. G STUART
s T.WILDBORE
., A. DALDORPH

D 5. Mr. A. MILLWARD

) » J.8. KNIGHT, Chairman
W. LEMMING

F. THOM 3

i ———— e ——

x-0fficio Members of the Commitiee.

W. ROBSON, J.P. Churchwdns. of
F.LMILBUKN,M.R.CS.| St James.

A MILLWARD } Churchwardens of
H.W. FINCHAM St. John.

Mr, 0. G. GIBSON
w T.A. BRUNJES
» FE.A. GARN
, BE.J. PENNY
, H. PULLEN
,, P.MELVILT

Overseers.

""l-———-.r-d_l"

PARLIAMENTARY

COMMITTEE.
B. H. TRIPP, Esq., J.P., Ea-Ofiicio

Warn 1, Mr. L. 8. WOOLF
.. W.BRAY
s 9. A SKINNER
,, 5.0. RICHARDS
» A, BARRY
;s J9. H. HURRELL

Warp 2. Mr. G. H. BURNS
, H.PULLEN
, T.W. WHITE

Wanp 3. Mr. B. P. MENDHAM

Warp 4, Mr. H. G. BARNES

T. M. GRIFFITHS, V.-Chair.
P. MELVILL

, H.MUNDY

s A, WATSON

Waro 5. Mr. J. F. GREENHIL &
» A W.HUOMPHREYS
s W.LEMMING
, P. R. PRATT, Chaiviman.

1]
¥

=]

— = T

TOWN HAILL
COMMITTEE.
E. i. TRIPP, Esy., J.P., Ev. Officio.

Wanrnp 1. Mr. C. G. GIBSON
» R.W.HALE
,, J. H. HURRELL
., G. BASSETT

Warp 2. Mr. A. T. MILLWARG
» D. WILLTAMS
, T.L. BURRI
, T. A BRUNJES

Naep 3. Mr. J. CROWLE-SMITH
» H.A GARN



Warp 4. Mr E.J. PENNY
.. T. WILDRBORE
., R.T.STI'EBBINGS
s W.F. ABRAHAMGS
o J. WALTON

Warp 5, Mr. II. BLADON
, J.F. GREENATLL
i¥ ﬂ.. W. HUMPHREYS, Fﬂﬂﬁﬂ‘i‘l‘.
» F. G. BOULTON, Chairman

LIBRARY COMMITTEE.
. U. TRIPP, Bsq., J.P., Ea.-Officio

Warp 1l Mr. R. W HALE
» L.3. WOOLF
s 2. RANDALL, Vice-Chairman

Vir. J. JOHNSON
» A T.MILLWARD

Mr.
.. H.W. FINCHAM

Mr. E. J. PENNY

,, W.H.PENGELLY
. A DALDORPH

., H.G. BARNES

,, H. MUNDY

, W.R. PUTTERILL
» F.THOMS

F
Mr. A. MILLWARD, Chairman
. A.W.HUMPHRExS
T
A

WakD 2.
Warp 3.

Warp 4.

Warn o.

. E. DICKSUN

»y H. BLADON

ELECTRIC LIGHTING

COMMITTEE.
E. II. TRIPP, Esq., J.P., Fa-Officio.

Waup 1. Mr. 7. GIBSON
., ©C.G.GIBSON
‘» R. W. HALE

Warp 2 Mr. J. JOONSON
w ALT.MILLWARD
» H.H, TRIPP, J.P.

Warp 3. Mr. T. L. BURRI
s F.G.SCHELIB

J. CROWLE-SMITH |

. MIGNOT I

»w J. CROWLE-SMITH, Vice-Chaivr.

Town Havn, CLERKENWELL,
May, 1900.

ELECTRIC LIGHTING
COMMITTE E — Continued.

Warn 4. Mr. E.J. PENNY
,» W.R. PUTTERILL
» 3. WALTON

Warp 5 Mr. E. JONES, M.R.(0.5,,
,, F.G BOULTON
,, A. W HUMPHREYS

DRAINAGE COMMITTE

Mr. BASSETT

2 . BEARD

. BLADON

A. BRUNIES

. L. BURRI

G. GIBSON

. JONES, M.R.C.8.
. G. SCHEIB

.T'. STEBBINGS

. WILDBORE

i
L1 ]
L
e
WE
r

REEEOASg00

Ty

TRUSTEES OF THE
BANKING ACCOUNT.

., A.MILLWARD

" W.R. PUTTERILL
" P. @ BOULTON

» B. H. TRIFP,J.P.

AUDITORS OF
ACCOUNTS.

( Appointed by the Rainpayers.)

Warp 1
Mr THOS. GRANVILLE HOCKRIDG
27, Tysoe Street, W.C.
Warp 2
Mr. GEO. TRIPP, 17, Amwell Sire:ut

WarD 3

Mr JAS. HOUGHETON TAYLOR, 2a and
Garnaanlt Place, B.C.

Warn 4
Mr. ALEX. ANTHONY BELLEFON''AI2
52 & 54, Exmouth Street, W.C.

Warn 5 :
Mr. FRANK CUZNER (deceasel),

C. A. HARRISON,
Vestry C
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REPORT OF THE VESTRY

For the Year ended 25th March, 1900.

L T Iq.-ll..il:“llhpl!“!h o7 i e—

Tue VESTRY OF THE PARISH oF ST. JAMES AND ST.
JonN, CLERKENWELL, in accordance with Section 189
of the Metropolis Local Management Act, 1855,
beg to present the following Report of their pro-
ceedings, and other matters connected therewith,
during the year ended on 25th March, 1900 :—

Area.—The Parish of Clerkenwell contains 380
acres, about 65 of which are situate in the outlying
portion of the Parish at Muswell Hill.

Population.—According to the last census
(1896) the population was 66,202.

Number of Assessments.—The number of
Assessments in che Parish is 9,052.

The Rateable Value.—The rateable value for
the year, according to the Valuation List in force

on 5th April, 1899, was £422,060.

Description of Wards.—The Parish is divided
into five wards, as follows :—

Ward No. 1 (Pentonville) comprises all that
portion of the Parish which lies north of a line
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drawn from the west boundary of the Parish at
Battle Bridge, along the centre of Pentonville Road,
to the east boundary of the Parish at the top of the
City Road, thence up High Street and Liverpool
Rond to Sermon Lane, thence westward (according
to the boundary of the Parish) to Caledonian Road,
including Nos. 61 to 77 and 68 t0 100 in that road,
and 6 to 17, Caledonian Crescent, thence to the
western boundary at Battle Bridge, and all that
portion of the Parish which is situate at or about
Muswell Hill. This Ward contains 1,958 assess-
ments, of a rateable value of £81,043, and a popu-
lation of 16,139, and returns twelve members to
the Vestry.

Ward No. 2 (St. Philip’s) comprises all that por-
tion of the Parish which lies within a line drawn
along the centre of King’s Cross Road from Baker
Street to Battle Bridge, thence up Pentonville Road
to the north-west corner of Claremont Square,
thence down Amwell Street and Rosoman Street to
Exmouth Street, along Exmouth Street and Mount
Pleasant to the boundary, thence along the bound-
ary of the Parish to King’s Cross Road, bottom of
Baker Street, including nearly the whole of the
Parcel Post Office. This Ward contains 1,408
assessments, of a rateable value of £78,191, and
a population of 11,836,and returns fifteen members
to the Vestry.

Ward No. 3 (St. Mark’s) comprises all that
portion of the Parish within a line- drawn along
Pentonville Road from the north-west corner of
Claremont Square to the junction of City Road
and Goswell Road, thence down Goswell Road to
the Corner of Spencer Street (including Nos. 290
to 320 on the north-east side of Goswell Road, and
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Nos. 1 and 30 in Sidney Street), thence along
Spencer Street, Myddelton Street, Rosoman Street,
and Amwell Street, to the north-west corner of
Claremont Square. This Ward contains 1,198
assessments, of a rateable value of £58,139, and
a population of 8,211, and returns twelve members
to the Vestry.

Ward No. 4 (St. James’) comprises all that
portion of the Parish within a line drawn from
Goswell Road, along the centre of Spencer Street,
Myddelton Street, Exmouth Street, Mount
Pleasant, to the boundary of the Parish, thence
along the line of the Old Fleet Ditch to the new
street opposite Clerkenwell Green, and thence
along Clerkenwell Green (north side of Sessions
House) and Aylesbury Street to St. John Street,
thence up the centre of St. John Street to Percival
Street, along the centre of Percival Street, and up
Goswell Road to Spencer Street. This Ward
contains 2,915 assessments, of a rateable value of
£111,357, and a population of 19,920, and retuins
eighteen members to the Vestry.

Ward No. 5 (St. John’s) comprises all that
portion of the Parish which lies south of the
southern boundary of Ward 4, bounded on the
east by a line drawn along the centre of Goswell
Road from Percival Street to Clerkenwell Road,
on the west by the Old Fleet Ditch, and on the
south by a line drawn from Goswell Road down
Clerkenwell Road, thence irregularly, according to
the boundary ot the Parish, to the Old Fleet Ditch.
This Ward contains 1,573 assessments, of a rateable
value of £93,336, and a population of 10,096, and
returns fifteen members to the Vestry.
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Clerkenwell Detached. - With regard to this
outlying portion of the Parish, the following
extract from Cromwell's History of Clerkenwell
will be of interest, especially to those unacquainted
with its history :—

¢ Phere is a small detached portion of the Parish, situate ab
Muswell, or Muswell Hill, about five miles and a half from
London, and on the north-western confines of Hornsey. This
Little tract (about 65 acres) was given to the Nunnery of Clerken-
well by Beauvais, Bishop of London, about the year 1112 ; and
having become famous through a legendary tale of a * great cure
performed upon a King of Scots, who was, hy some divine iu-
telligence, advised to take the water of a well in England, called
Muswell,” a Chapel was erected on the spot, ¢ sometime bearing
the name of our Lady of Muswell.” Here was placed an image of
¢ Our Lady, whereunto was a continual resort in the way of
pilgrimage.” This Chapel (which of eourse was an appendage
to the Nunnery) had sunk, along with many other fabrics origin-
ating in religious romance, before the reign of Elizabeth ; and
when Norden wrote, an Alderman Roe had ‘a proper house
ocenpying the site.” ”

« The Wells, from which this tract and the hill comprising it
take name, are two in number, and continue in good preservation,
being bricked round to the depth from which they seemingly
spring (about five fect and a half), and enclosed besides from the
field wherein they are sitnated by wooden railings. Though a
fow yards only asunder, their waters differ in quality ; that of the
one being hard, sweet, and beautifully pellueid, while the other
more nearly resembles rain water, and is used only for the pur-
poses to which the latter is commonly applied. Neither are at
present supposed to possess any medicinal properties. An infant
brook issues from their united and ceaseless overflowing ; which
descending the hill and winding through the adjacent meadows
at length finds its way to the comparatively distant Lea River.”

“ This tract is regularly visited, and its limits marked at the
pﬂ;’ﬂmbulauou of the Parish, which takes place septennially ;
1t is at present entirely under pasturage. The only habitations
upon it are two by the road side, traditiondlly said to occupy the
site of the dairy farm, which in the mounastic time sent its produce
to the nune of Clerkenwell.  Part of an adjoining house being
also witLin the parochial line (as is signified by the usual initial
affixed to its front), the perambulators are obliged to pass throngh

this latter dwelling in order to assert their long established
boundary."

e il i S i i o i










25

Decease of Officials.—The Vestry record with
regret the death of their Medical Officer of Health,
Dr. J. Glaister, on the 4th March, and of their
Senior Sanitary Inspector, Mr. W. J. Bartlett, on
the 13th March. Votes of sympathy was passed
with the widows and families in their bereavement.

Yote of Condolences.— On the 6Gth April the
attention of the Vestry was called to the terrible
calamity which occurred on the 30th March to the
g.8. ““ Stella ”” on the Casquet Rocks, off Alderney,
whereby the two sons of an old inhabitant and
ratepayer in the Parish—Mr. W. Thompson, of
41 and 43, St. John Street Road—were drowned,
when a vote of sympathy, under the Seal of the
Board, was passed with Mr. and Mrs. Thompson 1n
their sad bereavement.

The Vestry also passed a vote of sympathy with
Mrs. Robinson and family upon the death of the
Rev. A. D. J. Robinson, B.A., Vicar of 5t. Philip’s,
Clerkenwell.

Meetings.—Under the Bye-laws of the Vestry,
Standing Committees are appointed at the first
Meeting of the Vestry after the Annual Elections,
and Special Committees are appointed from time to
time to deal with special questions, and 1t 1s at the
Meetings of these Committees that a very large
quantity of the detail work of the Vestry is carried
out. The following statement shows the number
of Meetings held by the Vestry and the various
Committees during the year, and will also show the
parishioners that the administration of their local
affairs is no light task, but is one which entails con-






27

The Rates made in March, for the half-year to
Michaelmas, were based upon a rateable value of
£483.136, and those made in October, for the half-
year to Lady-day, upon a rateable value of
£436,268.

The amounts required by the Guardians of the
Holborn Union were £36,738 in the first, and
£31,986 in the second half-year, total £63,724.

The Parish of Clerkenwell received from the
Common Poor Fund £3,420 2s. 10d. and
£3.441 12s. 4d. in the first and second half-years

respectively.

The amounts above stated as being required by
the Guardians of the Holborn Union included the
Precepts of the London County Council, whose
rate is now collected in the Poor rate, whereas the
requirements of the Metropolitan Board of Works
were raised by a separate rate called the Metro-
politan Consolidated Rate. The Council’s precepts
in respect of the Parish of Clerkenwell amounted
to £23,741 4s. 2d., divided into portions of
£11,870 12s. 1d. in the first, and £11,870 12s. 1d. 1n
the second half-year. Under the Liocal Government
Act constituting the Council, it receives from the
Commissioners of Inland Revenue the produce of
local taxation licenses, including licenses for the
sale of intoxicating liquors, for game, dogs, guns,
auctioneers, tobacco, carriages, hawkers, pawn-
brokers, armorial bearings, &ec., &c., together with
two-fifths of the probate duty paid within the County
of Liondon. From these hitherto imperial funds the
Council pays certain public grants formerly paid
from the Imperial Exchequer for Teachers in Poor
Law Schools, Public Vaccinators, Registrars of
Births and Deaths, Pauper Lunatics, Poor Law
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Medical Officers, and the Metropolitan Police.
The balance of the Exchequer Contribution Account
remaining after payment of these grants is carried
to the General County Account, and from this
Account the Council have to pay to the Guardians
of every Poor Law Union wholly in London a sum
equal to 4d. per head per day, for every indoor
pauper maintained in that Union. The share of
the Parish of Clerkenwell of the later amount for
the year ending Lady-day, 1899, is £7,856, the
amount being based on the average number of in-
door paupers so maintained during the five financial
years ending on the 25th March, 1888.

The Police precepts for the year amounted to
£8,671 4s. 1d., collected as part of the Poor Rate.

The Library Rate precept at 1d. in the £
amounted to £1,690, and the cost of Registration
of Voters, Collection of the Poor Rate, and other
matters under the control of the Overseers and the
Guardians or Governors of the Poor amounted to
£1,430, which added to the sums above-mentioned,
made the Poor Rate precepts as sent by that Board
to the Vestry £73,601, to meet which the Poor
Rate of £72,020 was levied.

The precept of the School Board for the year
1899, amounted to the sum of £23,202 13s. 10d.,
which is collected as purt of the General Rate.

It will thus be seen that of the £125,190 raised
during the year, the sum of £92,102 was required
by bodies beyond the control of the Vestry; or in
other words, of the total rates of 6s. 1ld. in the
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pound for the year, 4s. 53d. was for other bodies,
and 1s. 73d. for the local administration, paving,
lighting, dusting, slopping, &e.

An average of 1,107 summonses have been issued
for the recovery of the rates in each quarter of the
year. This appears a large number, but it is quite
evident that a very large proportion of the persons
summoned are content to wait for the summons,
treating it as the ‘‘final demand” for payment,
preferring to pay the small fee of 1s. charged for
the summons and hearing, and to hold their money
as a matter of convenience, as long as possible.
That this is so is patent from the fact that only
five per cent. of those summoned attend the hearing,
the bulk of the remainder paying without further
proceedings being necessary.

An average of 20 committal warrants per quarter
were granted in respect of non-payment of rates,
the majority of the cases being those of persons who
set the Vestry at defiance, and have no goods on
the premises on which distress can be levied ; and
it may be taken that practically the same persons
form the cases each quarter. In the large majority
of these cases also, when proceedings have reached
this extreme, the money is forthcoming.

An average of 9 cases per quarter were excused
by the Justices on account of poverty.

Four Provisional Valuation Lists have been made
out during the year dealing with 191 assessments,
and increasing the rateable value by £8,257.
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Garden Rates.—At the request of the Com-
mittees of Inhabitants the Vestry raised a rate of
3d. in the pound for the maintenance and manage-
ment of the enclosed garden of Holford Square,
and a rate of 5d. in the pound for Lloyd Square, to
be assessed on the occupiers of the houses in the

Square.

London (Equalization of Rates) Act.—The prin-
ciple of the Act is that a rate of 6d. in the pound
per annum forms the Hqualization Fund; the
parishes contributing according to their rateable
value, and receiving according to their popula-
tion ; parishes of a high rateable value and a small

opulation having therefore to contribute to the

fund, while those of a low rateable value and a
large population receive a grant from it. The net
amount received from the fund by the Parish of
Clerkenwell for the year ending 31st March, 1900,
was £3,310 8s. 11d.

Collection of the Rates. —-Of the Rates made in
the Parish of Clerkenwell, a percentage of about
94 is actually collected, 6 per cent. being irre-
coverable from allowances to owners who compound,
empty houses, runs, and excusals on the ground of
poverty. It follows therefore that when the Parish
1s called upon to satisfy the precept of some
central body, such as the County Council or the
School Board, which is stated to be at the rate of
say ls. in the pound, an actual rate of nearly 13d.
must be made to produce the amount required.

Rates Raised in 1899-1900.—The Vestry have
been furnished with a return by the London County
Council, showing the amount in the pound of all
rates raised in the County of London for the year
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ending 31st March, 1900, distinguishing the rates
raised for county and for parish purposes, and of
rates raised in the principal boroughs and parishes
in the immediate neighbourhood of London. The
return shows the central rates at 4s. 2-375d. in the
pound, and the total rates of the various parishes
ranged from 5s. 4d. in St. James, Westminster, to
8s. 10d. in Bow, the average being 6s. 3:36d.;
Clerkenwell with rates amounting to 6s. 1d. in
the pound, standing very favourably on the list,
50 parishes having rates higher, and only 23 having
rates lower.

Parliamentary Representation.—The Parish of
Clerkenwell forms the Central Division of the Par-
liamentary Borough of Finsbury, and is represented
in Parliament by the Hon. W. F. B. Massey-
Mainwaring.

The Vestry feel that it is desirable and necessary
that the representative of Clerkenwell should be-
come acquainted with the local requirements, and
be in close cornmunication with the local authority,
and therefore the Member for the Division is in-
vited to be present at the meetings of the Vestry
whenever he can attend, and the minutes, agenda
notices, and other papers issued to the Vestrymen

are sent to him.

School Board for London.— Under the
Elementary Education Act, 1870, the Parish 1s
included in the Finsbury Division of the School
Board for London. The following are the members
elected in November, 1897, for the Division :—

Miss Eve, 107, Lansdowne Road, Notting Hill, W.

Mr. C, Bowden, 1504, Goldsmiths’ Row, N.E. - .
Mrs. E. E. Dibdin, 17, Russell Square, W.C. - -
Earl Beauchamp, 125, Piceadilly, W. (resigned) - -
Rev. J. H. Rose, M.A., 16, Claremont Sq., N. (deceased)
Mr. J. W. Sharp, 84, Highbury Hill, N. - - “
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The Rev.R. F. Hosken, M.A., was co-opted,'on the
93rd June, 1898, to fill the vacancy caused by the
death of the Rev. J. H. Rose, M.A., and Mr. A. J.
Mundella was co-opted, on the 23rd March, 1899, to
fill the vacancy caused by the resignation of Earl

Beauchamp.

London County Council.—Under the Local
Government Act, 1888, the County Council super-
seded the Metropolitan Board of Works, and the
Electoral Areas of London are the same as for
Parliamentary purposes. The following are the
members elected on the 3rd March, 1898, for
Central Finsbury :(—

Mr. P. J. Ratland, 67-9, Chancery Lane, W.C.
. R. M. Beacheroft, 11, Craven Hill, Paddington, W.

The representatives of the Division are invited
to all meetings of the Vestry and Committees.

Guardians of the Poor.—The Parish of
Clerkenwell is the central and the largest Parish in
the Holborn Poor Law Union. The administrative
offices of the Guardians are situated in the Parish
in Clerkenwell Road. A list of the Guardians will
be found on pages 15 & 16, and of their officers on
page 14.

Guardians or Governors of the Poor.—The
collection of the Poor Rate, together with certain
other duties pertaining to that rate, is in the hands
of the Guardians or Governors of the Poor of St.
James, Clerkenwell, a body constituted under the
Clerkenwell Local Acts, 15 Geo. IIIL., c. xxiii., and
23 Geo. I11., ¢. xliv. The members are elected by
the Vestry. A list of the present members will be
found on pages 7 and 8.
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Trustees of the Church.—This body is also
elected by the Vestry. The duties of the Board are
to administer the Act 28 Geo. I1I., cap. x.,and the
amending Act 30 Geo. IIL., cap. Ixix., and the ad-
ministration of the Parish Charities is also in their
hands. A list of the present members will be found
on pages 9 and 10.

Overseers.—The duties of the Overseers are to
make out and publish on the dates prescribed by
law, the various list of voters, lists of claims of
householders, lodgers and freeholders, list of ob-
jections, jury lists, etc.; to prosecute keepers of
disorderly houses; and to value and assess all
rateable properties. ~Churchwardens of St. James
and St. John, are, by virtue of their office, Over-
seers ex-officio, as set forth in 15 Geo. I11., Cap. 23.
Overseers are nominated by the Vestry, and ap-
pointed by a Magistrate within 14 days of the 25th
March, as prescribed by 54 Geo. III., Cap. 21. A
list of the present members will be found on p. 11.

Committee for Public Libraries and
Museums for the Parish of Clerkenwell— In
accordance with an application from the Vestry
under Section 33 of the Local Government Act,
1894, the Local Government Board made an order
transferring the powers and duties of the Library
Clommissioners to the Vestry from September 29th,
1898. A Committee is appointed annually to carry
out the provisions of the Public Libraries Acts, the
Vestry reserving to itself the following powers :—

1. The Sanction of Loans for New DBuildings or other
purposes.
9. The Issue of the Annual Precept for the Library Rate.

3. The Confirmation of Agreements with adjoining Library
Authorities for the joint use of Libraries.
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_ The Confirmation of the Appointment or Dismissal of
the Librarian or Sub-Librarian.
. The Confirmation of any Alteration in the Salary of the

Librarian and Sub-Librarian. :
., The Sanction of any Scheme for the formation of

4
b
6
Branch Libraries. : _
7. That the proceedings of the Library Committee be
8

9

reported monthly to the Board.
. That all Accounts (save salaries) be submitted to the
Vestry Finance Committee to be formally passed.
. That the Library Accounts be andited by the Auditors
of the Vestry Aeccounts.
A List of the Members of the Committee will
be found on page 6, and the Librarian and Clerk is
Mr. James D. Brown, The Library, Skinner Street,

E.C.

Register of Voters.—The register of Parlia-
mentary Voters, County Electors, and Parochial
Electors for the Parish of Clerkenwell (which is
the Central Division of the Borough of Finsbury)
made out in 1899, and coming into force in 1900,
shows the total number of Parliamentary Electors
to be 8,523, of County Klectors 9,093, and of
Parochial Electors 9,988.

Loans.—The debt in the shape of loans of the
Parish of Clerkenwell amounted at the 25th March,

1899, to the sum of £47,475, made up as
follows :—

£650 Balance of £6,500borrowed in December,
1881, for new paving from the Metro-
politan Board of Works at 31 per cent.
The annual repayment of principal is

£325 and the loan will be paid off in
October, 1901.

£400 Balance of £2,000 borrowed in April,
1883, for new paving in a portion of
Pentonville Road. The amount was also







£6,785

£9,142

£1,976

£2,072

£2,142
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Balance of £8,250, borrowed in January,
1895, from the County Council at 3} per
cent., the second half of the estimated
cost of the Town Hall. The amount is
repayable as to £7,750 in 30 years, and as
to £500 in 15 years, the first payments of
principal being £293 per annum.

Balance of £5,000, borrowed in Novem-
ber, 1895, from the County Council for
7 years at 3 per cent. for hard wood paving
in Spencer Street and St. John Street.
The payments of principal are £715 per
annum, and the loan will be paid off on
October 1st, 1902,

Balance of £2,800 borrowed on lst
April, 1896, from the County Couneil at 3
per cent. for the completion and furnishing
of the Town Hall. £350 is to be repaid
within 5 years, £1,600 within 15 years, and
£850 within 30 years, the first payments
of principal being £206 per annum.

Balance of £2,900 borrowed on 23rd
April, 1897, from the County Council at
3 per cent., for repaving Rosebery Avenue,
between Garnault Place and Farringdon
Road, with hard wood. The payments of
principal are £415, and the loan will be
paid off on April 1st, 1904.

Balance of £3,000, borrowed on 24th
December, 1897, from the County Council
at 3 per cent., for paving of St. John Street
Road, between Corporation Rowand Rydon
Crescent, with hard wood, and from Rydon




£8,676

£2,930
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Crescent to Rosebery Avenue, with granite.
The payments of principal are £429 per
annum, and the loan will be paid off on
October 1st, 1904.

Balance of £9,240, borrowed on 6th
July, 1898, from the County Council at
3 per cent., for purchase of freehold land
for site for offices, and for providing
additional accommodation and adapting
land for stoneyard, &c. £2,250 is to be
repaid within 51 years; £6,830 within 30
years; and £160 within 15 years. The
first payments of principal being £282 per
annum.

Balance of £3,005 borrowed on 20th
April, 1899, from the Public Works Lioan
Commissioners at 24 per cent. for sewer
work at Muswell Hill. The loan will be

paid off in 20 years.

£198:9:9 Balance of £220 borrowed on 25th May,

£2,485

£2.134

1899, from the Public Works Loan Com-
missioners at 22 per cent. for tar paving in
Colney Hatch Lane, Muswell Hill. The
loan will be paid off in 5 years.

Balance of £2,677 borrowed on 13th
July, 1899, from the Public Works Loan
Commissioners at 23 per cent. for wood
and granite paving in St. John Street
road between Rosebery Avenue and the
south side of Pentonville road. The loan
will be paid off in 7 years.

Borrowed on 23rd November, 1899, from
the Public Works Lioan Commissioners at
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Lighting.—The number of public lamps in the
main Parish at the close of the year was 949. The
gas is supplied by the Gas Light & Coke Company,
the lighting, cleaning, and glazing of the lamps
being done by the Vestry. The amount paid to
the Company was £2,447 7s. 10d. The Gas in the
detached portion is supplied by the Hornsey Gas
Company, the number of lamps being 39, and the
cost for lighting and gas being £113 16s. 2d.
Further particulars as to lighting will be found in
the Surveyor’s report.

Premises belonging to the Vestry.—The fol-
lowing particulars are given with reference to the
various buildings and premises belonging to the
Vestry :—

The Town Hall in Rosebery Avenue, the freehold
site of which was purchased in 1893 from the
County Council for the sum of £6,210, and the
building erected in 1894 and 1895 at a cost of
£18,333 7s. During the year the Vestry have
accepted a tender from Messrs. Campbell, Smith

& Co., for the completion of the decoration work
at a cost of £1,717.

Annex to Town Hall, formerly the Vestry Hall,
Rosoman Street.—Until 1888, held on lease from
the New River Company, at a ground rent of £10,
which would have expired in 1903. The freehold
was in February, 1888, purchased for the sum of
£2.132. The building was pulled down 1n 1898,
and an extension of the Town Hall erected on the
site at a cost of £8,760.

Publzc Library Building.—Erected at the corner
of Skinner and Whiskin Streets mm 1890 at a cost
of £6,300, the land being leased from the Worship-
ful Company of Skinners for 80 years, at a rent of
£17 per annum.
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The Mortuary, Coroner’s Court and Disinfecting
Oven.—Erected on a portion of Spa Wields Burial
Ground in 1876, at a cost of £2,433 1s. 11d., the
land being leased from the Marquess Northampton
for 50 years, at a rent of 10s. per annum.

Nos. 47 and 49, Northampton Road.—Leasehold
premises purchased in 1876 for the sum of £750 to
acquire an entrance to the Mortuary. The lease
expires in June, 1931, the ground rent being £12
on each house. No. 47 is used as a shelter for
persons requiring same during the disinfection of
their homes ; and No. 49 is partly occupied by the
mortuary keeper, and partly let to private tenants
in apartments.

Phanix Wharf, Commercial Road, Lambeth.—
Taken by the Vestry on lease n 1881 (expiring at
Lady-day, 1909) as a Depot for the disposal of
refuse, at a rental of £615, a sum of £500 being
paid as a premium, and £1,963 16s. being spent in
the construction of stables, paving, ete.; a des-
tructor has also been erected at a cost of £1,429 0s.

27, Commercial Road.—Held on lease at £45 per
annum for 21 years from Michaelmas, 1883, and
used as a residence by the Wharf Superintendent.

Spencer Place.—Van shed erected by the Vestry,
and held on lease of the Marquess Northampton for
182 years from Christmas, 1891, at a rental of £5

per annum. The net cost of erection and enclosure
was £236 9s. Td.

047-253, Pentonville Road, formerly the site of
a Toll House. Now leased to Mr. George Ell in
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two leases at £50 per annum each, expiring at
Michaelmas, 1962, 245, Pentonville Road, a free-
hold house adjoining the above, also leased to Mr.
Ell for the same term at £22 per annum.

Wilmington and Northampion Squares, and St.
James Churchyard, and the Churchyard of St. James,
Pentonville, are vested in the Vestry as open
spaces, and the Vestry also contributes to the
maintenance of St. John’s burial ground iu
Benjamin Street as an open space.

Streets partly situate in other Parishes—'The
particulars below mentioned show the orders which
have been made from time to time under sec. 140
of the Metropolis Local Management Act, 1855,
and the agreements which are in force with other
Local Authorities with regard to streets partly in
this parish and partly in the adjoining parishes:—

An Agreement, dated November, 1861, between the Vestries of
Clerkenwell and St. Pancras, by which the entire width of
Bagnigge Wells Road, now King's Cross Road, from the
west side of Vernon Street to Baker Street is to be watered,
cleansed and kept in repair by Clerkenwell ; and the entire
width from Vernon Street to Pentonville Road, and of
Pentonville Road from the Junetion with King’s Cross Road
to the boundary between the Parishes of St. Pancras and
Islington is to be watered, cleansed and kept in repair by
St. Pancras.

An agreement, dated August, 1864, by which Clerkenwell main-
tains and repairs the whole of Goswell Road, in the Parish
of Islington, and that portion of the City Road lying be-
tween the Obelisk and the Angel Hotel to the line formed
by the then granite paving, and also the roadway in Sermon
Lane ; Islington maintaining and repairing Liverpool Road
from Sermon Lane to High Street, and High Street between
Upper Street and the granite paving line above referred to.
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An Order of the Metropolitan Board of Works of 6th February,
1885, placing the carriageway of Goswell Road, to the north
of Seward Street, entirely under the management of Clerken-
well, and to the south of Seward Street entirely under the
management of 8t. Luke.

An Order of the London County Council, dated 21st December,
1892, placing the portion of Clerkenwell Road, in the
Parish of the Charterhouse, under the exclusive manage-
ment of the Vestry of Clerkenwell.

An Agreement with the Hornsey Urban Distriet Council, dated
29th August, 1895, under which the District Council
scavenges, waters, and lights Coluey Hatch Lane, which is
within the two Parishes, upon an annual payment by the
Vestry of £76 13s. 4d.

Broad Yard.—It may be kept upon record that
a portion of Broad Yard, Turnmill Street, at the
rear of Messrs. Mwrray & Co.’s and Messrs. Condy
and Mitchell’s, and enclosed by gates, is public
way. The circumstances of the enclosure are de-
tailed in the report for the year ended 25th March
1890.

PHimber's Place.—It is also to be noted that
this public way runs through the courtyard of
Northampton Buildings, the boundaries of such
public way being defined by narrow iron rails fixed
in the paving.

Owen’'s Row.—The Vestry, when removing the
posts from the eastern end of Owen’s Row, ordered
a bar to be fixed, so that the right of closing same
to vehicular traffic might be preserved. No com-
plaint reached the Vestry of any nuisance arising
from the street being opened, but it was found that
the bar was sometimes unlocked and placed across
the roadway. In consequence of this being done,
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samples of food and drugs, and have decided that
any resident of the Parish (traders accepted) shall
be allowed, upon payment of 2s. 6d., to bring to
the Vestry any article of food or drugs purchased
or delivered in the Parish, for the purpose of being
tested by the public Analyst. ~Should the sample
submitted prove to be adulterated, the report will
be hunded over to the Inspector of the district, with
the name and address of the seller, for the purpose
of his taking samples in conformity with the Act,
and if in that case the sample be found to be
adulterated. the 2s. 6d. deposited by the person
bringing the sample will be returned to him. The
rule has been printed on the back of the ratepapers,
but up to the present time little advantage has
been taken of the arrangement by the parishioners.

During the year the Vestry have considered the
Sale of Food and Drugs Act, 1899, a synopsis of
which was prepared by the Public Analyst, Mr.
Jas. Kear Colwell, when a circular was directed to
be sent to all the tradesmen, &c., in the parish
calling their attention thereto.

London Government, Westminster Conference.—
The Vestry have received the following report, in
continuation of their report of February, 1898, from
the delegates appointed on the Westminster Con-
ferance in reference to Liondon Government :—

To Chairman and Members of the Clerkenwell Vestry.
(GENTLEMEN, 5

In continuation of our Report of February, 1898, and of
the various Reports issued by the Conference, we beg to
announce the completion of the work of this Conference of cer-
tain Metropolitan Vestries. In response to the desire of the
Duke of Devonshire, the Conference met and appointed an Exe-
cutive Committee “to consider and report upon points in the
suggestions by Mr. Wheeler, Q.C., and upon the Memoranduiu
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relating to powers and duties which may be considered trans.
ferable.” Mr. Millward was appointed on this Committee,
upon the proposition of Mr. Johnson. The Draft Bill submitted
by the Committee was carefully considered, and finally sub-
mitted to the Government, and there is no doubt that the work
of the Conference and the continued representations made to
the Government were instrumental in causing the introduction
of the London Government Bill. But it must also be admitted
that the times were ripe for a new measure of local self-govern-
ment. Many of the members were really experts on the sub-
ject, especially Mr. Wheeler, Q.C., Kensington, and Mr. Smith,
the Vestry Clerk of St. Margaret and St. John, Westminster,
who acted as Secretary; on these two gentlemen the burden of
the work fell heavily. The Act as passed is naturally a very
different document to the Bill drawn up by the Conference,
which was necessarily piecemeal and permissive, and was in fact
called “ A Bill to facilitate the creation of Municipal Boroughs
in the County of London,” &ec.

The provisions of the new Act are now generally known to
members of the Vestry, and need not therefore be detailed ; by
extinguishing subsidiary bodies and by giving corporate dignity
in the form of Mayor, Aldermen, and Councillors, it will do
much to raise the status of the new body. Our attendances
both at the Conference and at the Committee were constant and
numerous, and we desire to thank the Board for giving us the
opportunity, as their representatives, to have some share in pro-
ducing a result which we believe will be of very great benefit
to all London.

ARTHUR MILLWARD.
J. JOHNSON.

London Government.—In March, upon the
recommendation of the Committee appointed by
the Vestry to watch the interests of Clerkenwell as
recards the changes proposed by the London
Government Bill, the Vestry called a Conference,
consisting of the Special Committee, the Chairman
and Clerk of each of the following Boards, viz.:—
St. Luke’s Vestry, and Holborn and St. Giles Dis-
trict Board of Works, together with their Com-
mittee, to consider the position of the districts
under the London Government Bill. Such Con-
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ference was held on the 29th March, St. Giles Dis-
trict Board not being represented, when the fol-
lowing resolutions were passed, the Holborn

District Board of Works dissenting :—

1 —That in the opinion of this Conference, one of the
new Borough Councils under the London Government Bill
1899, should include the parishes in the Holborn Poor Law
Union and St. Giles’ District Board of Works, all of which
at present form the Parliamentary Borough of Finsbury.

9.—That the Special Committee represented at this Con-
ference recommend their respective Vestries and the
Holborn and St. Giles’ District Boards to support the first

Beszolution as above.

3.—That copies of the Resolutions be sent to the Vestries
concerned and the Holborn and St. Giles’ Board of Works,
and to the three members representing the Borough of
Finsbury.

The Vestry, however, did not acquiesce in the
resolutions arrived at by the Conference, but passed
a resolution to petition the Right Hon. A. J. Bal-
four in favour of joining Clerkenwell and St. Luke
together as one municipality. Such petition 1s as
follows : —

LONDON GOVERNMENT BILL, 1899.

Tae Humere Peririon of the Vestry of the Parish of St. James
and St. John, Clerkenwell, for the amalgamation of the
Vestries of Clerkenwell and St. Luke ds a Metropolitan
Borough.

To THE Rt. Hon. A. J. BALFOUR, P.C., M.P., FirsT LorD
OF THE TREASURY.

SHEWETH :

~ That your Memorialists represent a Parish having a popula-
tion of 66,216, and a rateable value of £430,851, equal to that
of many large and important provincial towns.

That your Memorialists deeply regret that Clerkenwell has
not been included in the first schedule of the Bill as an area
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A vote of thanks was passed by the Vestry to
the Hon. Massey-Mainwaring for his valuable
services in supporting the memorial of the Vestry,
such resolution to be forwarded to him with the
Seal of the Vestry attached thereto.

On the 20th April the Vestry considered the
London Government Bill, and passed the following
resolution : —

That this Vestry heartily approve the general principles
of the London Government Bill, and that such resolution
be forwarded to the Rt. Hon. A. J. Balfour, and to the

Metropolitan M.P’s, and to the other Vestries and District
Boards of the Metropolis.

The London Government Commissioners ap-
pointed to carry out the various schemes under the
Act, wrote to the Vestry asking whether they had
any suggestions to offer in reference to the rectifi-
cation of the boundary of the new Borough, and re-
presentations of the Vestry were forwarded to the
Commissioners, who suggested that it was desirable
that representatives of the Vestry should confer
with representatives of the adjoining parishes with
a view to joint representations being made, where-
upon a sub-committee was appointed, consisting of
Mr. A. Millward, Chairman of the Committee, Mr.
E. H. Tripp, J.P., Chairman of the Board, Mr.
Johnson, and Mr. Walton, to act on the Vestry’s
behalf at the various conferences and inquiries to
be held. The Sub-Committee met the representa-
tives of Holborn, Islington and St. Pancras on
various occasions, but they were unable to agree
upon a joint recommendation to be made to the
Commissioners. The Vestry thereupon forwarded
their suggestions as to the alterations to be made,
which were as follows:—Clerkenwell to give to
Islington all that portion of the parish north-west
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of a line drawn along the centre of the roadway of
Pentonville Road, North Street, Collier Street, and
Winchester Street, taking in exchange from Isling-
ton all that portion of their parish south of a line
drawn along the centre of the roadway of Richard
Street and Wynford Road. To give to St. Pancras
the portion of Rowton House in the Parish, and
to take the portion of the Parcels Post Office in
their Parish. To give to Holborn all that portion
of the parish situated west of a line drawn along
the centre of the roadway of Warner Street, Back
Hill, Clerkenwell Road, and Farringdon Road, and
to take all that portion of their parish situate east
of that line as far asand including the Metropolitan
Railway Co. An inquiry was subsequently held on
the 18th and 19th December by T. R. Colquhoun
Dill, Esq., Assistant Commissioner, when the
Chairman of the Board being deputed to conduct the
case on behalf of the Vestry, the Vestry was repre-
sented by the Sub-Committee, and their proposals
were eventually adopted by the Commissioners,
with the exception that a portion of the boundary
with Holborn was altered from Back Hill to Little
Saffron Hill.

On the 16th October a public inquiry was held
at the Hornsey District Council’s Offices in
Southwood Lane, Highgate, with the view to the
preparation of a draft order in Council in accord-
ance with section 18 of the Act, which requires
that any part of the County of London wholly sur-
rounded by any other county shall be transferred
thereto. A letter, dated 14th December, was re-
ceived from the Commissioners, stating that after
careful consideration they had arrived at the con-
clusion that the detached part of Clerkenwell at
Muswell Hill should be annexed to the Parish of
Hornsey.
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On the 13th January the Vestry received a letter
from the Commissioners stating that they proposed
that 54 should be the number of Councillors for the
new Borough, which would be divided pro rata
amongst the parishes, according to their rateable
value and population, such division being: Clerken-
well 30, St. l.uke 21, other parishes 3 ; and asking
to be informed of any observations the Vestry may
have to offer thereon. The Vestry expressed its
entire satisfaction with the proposals of the Com-
missioners, but the Vestry of St. Luke objected,
and an inquiry was therefore ordered to be held
at the Clerkenwell Town Hall on the 26th March,
1900, by the Assistant Commissioner, Mr. T. R.
Colquhoun Dill.

(As the result of such enquiry the Commissioners’
proposals were adhered to.)

Widening Goswell Road between Upper Ashby
Street and Clerkenwell Road. —For some years
past the Vestry has urged the County Council to
undertake the widening of Goswell Road between
Upper Ashby Street and Clerkenwell Road. In
March a letter was received from the Clerk to the
Council inquiring on behalf of the Improvements
Committee whether, in the event of their agreeing
to recommend the Counecil to undertake this im-
provement, together with the widening of St. John
Street, the Vestry of Clerkenwell will give an
undertaking that they will, as the road authority,
place no obstacle in the way of the construction of
tramways in St. John Street, or the doubling of the
existing lines in Goswell Road, as the case may be,
or in the way of the construction of junctions and
extensions in connection with the Council’s tram-
ways in other parts of the parish; and also asking
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whether the Vestry would make a contribution
towards the cost, and if so, to what extent. After
carefully considering the matter, the Works Com-
mittee informed the Council that they were pre-
pared to recommend the Vestry to give its sanction
to the construction of a double line of tramways
through Goswell Road, and the construction of
lines from the “ Angel” Hotel through St. John
Street Road and St. John Street to the boundary of
the Parish near the Central Meat Market, also to
a line through Rosebery Avenue to the Parish
boundary, upon the Council undertaking to widen
Goswell Road between Upper Ashby Street and
Clerkenwell Road at the cost of the County, as was
done in the case of the Old Street Improvement,
and to complete the line through St. John Street
Road and St. John Street before the line through
Rosebery Avenue is commenced.

On the 4th May the Improvements Committee
informed the Vestry that they would be prepared
to recommend the Council to seek Parliamentary
powers for the carrying out of the work, provided
the local authorities concerned, the Vestry of
Clerkenwell and the Vestry of St. Luke, will agree
to contribute between them the sum of £20,000
towards the cost. After considerable discussion
the Vestry eventually agreed to contribute the sum
of £15,000 towards the cost of widening Goswell
Road between Upper Ashby Street and Great
Sutton Street, and gave its consent to the construc-
tion of a double line of tramways through Goswell
Road, and the construction of double tram-lines
from the “ Angel ” Hotel through St. John Street
Road and St. John Street to the boundary of the
Parish near the Central Meat Market; also to
double tram lines through Rosebery Avenue to the
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Parish boundary on the following conditions, viz.:
__That the Council carries out the Goswell Road
widening, and lays double tram lines through St.
John Street Road and St. John Street before com-
mencing the laying of the tram lines in Rosebery

Avenue.

The Parliamentary Notice and Plans were sub-
_sequently considered by the Vestry, and no objec-
tions were offered thereto.

Widening of St. John Street.—In connection
with the widening of St. John Street, the County
Council asked the Vestry to acquire No. 133, St.
John Street, compulsorily under the powers con-
ferred by the Act 57, George I1L., cap. 29 (Michael
Angelo Taylor’s Act), the whole cost of the acqui-
sition to be paid by them. The Vestry agreed with
the suggestion of the Council, and passed the neces-
sary resolution for that purpose, and also appointed
the Council’s solicitor to act as the Vestry’s solicitor
in the matter. The Council subsequently arranged
terms with the frecholder for the acquisition of the
property, thereby rendering any further action by
the Vestry unnecessary.

Tramways.—The Vestry had before them the
Parliamentary Notice and Plans deposited by the
London County Council, showing their intention to
apply for powers to lay tramways in Rosebery
Avenue, St. John Street Road and St. John Street,
and to double the lines in Goswell Road. They
found that the condition of the Vestry’s sanction to
the laying of the tramways, which was approved by
the Council, viz., “ that the Council carries out the
Goswell Road widening and lays double tram lines
through St. John Street Road and St. John Street
before commencing the laying of the tram lines in
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Rosebery Avenue,” was not included in the Bill,
and they therefore asked the Council to insert a
clause to this effect. The Council stated they were
unable to insert such a clause, and asked whether
the Vestry would be satisfied if the Council gave
a reasonable undertaking to carry out the condition
imposed. Upon the advice of the Solicitors, the
Council were asked to embody the consent partly
in an agreement and partly in clauses to be con-
tained in the Bill referring to such agreement. The
Chairman of the Board (Mr. E. H. Tripp, J.P.)
and the Chairman of the Works Committee (Mr.
T. A. Brunjes) afterwards interviewed the High-
ways and Parliamentary Committees of the Counecil
0;1 the subject, when they agreed to insert the
clause. |

The Vestry also considered the general prin-
ciples of the Bill, and found that the rights of the
Local Road Authorities were not sufficiently pro-
tected. A Conference was therefore convened by
the Vestry on Tuesday, the 30th January, of the
Vestries and District Boards interested in the Bill
to make arrangements for a joint representation
being made to the Council on all matters affecting
the Local Road Authorities as a whole. Several
amendments and additions were suggested to the
Bill, and a deputation was appointed by the Con-
ference in support of such resolutions. The depu-
tation waited upon the Highways Committee of the
Council, when various amendments were finally
agreed upon, and subsequently incorporated in the
BilL -

Improvement St. John Street Road by Penton-
ville Road.—The Vestry had under consideration
the question of an improvement being effected at
the junction of these roads, and they suggested to
the London County Council the desirability of set-
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ting back the footway opposite No. 1a, Pentonville
Road, in connection with the proposed laying of
tram lines in St. John Street Road. A letter was
received from the Improvements Committee of the
Council, asking whether, in the event of the Council
agreeing to undertake the suggested improvement,
the Vestry would be prepared to make a contribu-
tion towards the cost, and if so, to what extent, to
which the Vestry replied that they were unable to
make a contribution towards the costs, as the
necessity for the improvement, would be occasioned
solely by the proposed laying of tram lines bv the
Council.

. Land at junction of Goswell Road and City
Road.—The attention of the Vesiry was called to
the piece of land at the junction of City and Goswell
Roads, to the unsightly hoarding enclosing same,
and to the nature of the objectionable business
carried on inside, and a Sub-Committee was ap-
pointed to meet a Sub-Committee of the Islington
Vestry, with the view of jointly approaching the
County Council as to the purchase of the land as a
small open space for the use of the public, and, if
this were successful, of joining hands in the con-
struction of an underground urinal in place of the
present unsightly one. Negotiations were opened
with Messrs. Farebrother, Ellis & Co. on behalf of
the owners, but the price, viz.,, £5,000, being pro-
hibitive, the matter was dropped.

Price of Gas.—In January last the Vestry
appointed Mr. E. H. Tripp, J.P., as their repre-
sentative to a Conference convened by the Holborn
Board of Works. Mr. Tripp reported to the Vestry
that the Conference, finding that counsel’s opinion
(see pages 49 to 53 in last year’s Annual Report)
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be sent to all Vestries and District Boards, inviting
them to co-operate with the Vestry in taking
similar action. The Council stated that the matter
of making provision for lowering barrels into cellars
by means of hydraulic or other power, with the view
to abolishing the use of ropes across footways,
hardly falls within the purview of the Building
Acts, but is rather one to be dealt with by an
Amendment of Sec. 101 of the Metropolis Manage-
ment Act, 1855, and that they are not at the present
momient prepared to recommend the Council to con-
sider the question of promoting legislation as sug-
gested by the Vestry. A letter was thereupon sent
to the Council expressing the regret of the Vestry
that they cannot see their way to make a by-law as
suggested, seeing that 23 Vestries and District
Boards have expressed themselves in favour of same
and none against 1t.

Northampton Institute.—'The Vestry have again
had under consideration the question of the Vestry
having a representative on the Governing Body of
the Northampton Institute, and they have passed
the following resolution :—“ That a representation
by letter, or if necessary by deputation, be made to
the Charity Commissioners, urging them to grant
to the parochial authority of Clerkenwell the right
of representative on the Governing Body of the
Northampton Institute.” The Charity Commis-
sioners replied that to confer representation upon
the Vestry would involve the establishment of a
scheme modifying the existing scheme for the ad-
ministration of the Charity, and that the necessary
proceedings for such a purpose could only be initi-
ated by the Charity Commissioners upon an appli-
cation signed by at least a majority of the Governors
of the Institute; whereupon the Vestry respectfully
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Middlesex Volunteers upon the patriotic response
made by the regiment (particularly associated with
Clerkenwell) to the Lord Mayor’s invitation for
volunteers to proceed to South Africa, and wishing
the gallant detachment God speed, and a safe,
speedy and happy return.

They also, on the occasion of the victory ab
at Kimberley, passed the following resolution of
congratulation to Her Majesty the Queen : —

“ That the Vestry of Clerkenwell now assembled, repre-
senting 66,000 of your Majesty's subjects, offers its loyal
and dutiful congratulations on the splendid victories which,
under God, have been vouchsafed to your Arms in South
Africa during the past ten days, trusts that your Majesty
will be endued with health and strength during this trying
crisis, and heartily welcome your presence among your loyal
citizens ” ;

And such resolution was telegraphed to Her
Majesty at Buckinghum Palace, and a letter was
duly received from the Private Secretary express-
ing the thanks of Her Majesty for the kind

message of congratulation forwarded by the Vestry.

Re-numbering Rosebery Avenue and Lorenzo
Street.—An order and plan has been received from
the London County Council for altering the name
of The Facade, John Street, Garnault Place
(northern section), St. John’s Terrace, Myddelton
Place, and for re-numbering the several houses and
buildings therein; and also for renumbering the
houses and premises in Lorenzo Street.

Taxation of Land Values.—The Vestry
appointed Mr. E. H. Tripp, J.P., and Mr. J. Walton
as delegates to attend a Conference at the Batter-
sea Town Hall on Thursday, the 1st March, with a
view to united action being taken to promote a Bill
in Parliament for the taxation of land values.
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Hackney Carriage Standing, St. John Street
Road.—The Commissioner of Police appointed
a standing for three hackney carriages in St. John
Street Road, opposite the “ Angel ” Hotel.

Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1897, &c.—
The Vestry had under consideration the advisa-
bility of insuring against accidents which may
happen to the Vestry’s employees in the discharge
of their various duties, and they accepted the offer
of the Law Accident Insurance Society, Limited,
to insure the Vestry against liabilit% under the
Workmen’s Compensation Act, 1897, the Em-
ployers’ Liability Act, 1880, Common Law without
limitation, and Lord Campbell’s Aect, for the sum of
£12,000 per annum, at the rate of 5s. per cent.

Library Rate.—'The Vestry requested the
Solicitors to advise them whether they still have
power to make a Library Rate of a lesser sum than
1d. in the pound, or whether there is anything in
the Order transferring the powers from the Com-
missioners to the Vestry which makes it imperative
at all times to make a rate of 1d. in the pound.
Their advice was that the Vestry still have such
power under section 18, sub-section 2 (1) of the
Public Libraries Act, 1892, and that there is
nothing in the order of the Local Government
Board transferring the duties from the Commis-
sioners to the Vestry, or in the Local Government
Act of 1898, which, in their opinion, takes away or
interferes with this power, and that one of the
officials at the offices of the Local Government

Board whom they saw upon the subject took the
same view.

Combined Drainage.—Sewers and Drains Bill.—

Upon the receipt of a letter from the Holborn Board
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of Works, the Vestry communicated with the
County Council urging them to re-introduce the
Metropolitan Sewers and Drains Bill early in the
next Session, and a letter was subsequently received
from the Council, stating that they were taking
steps to have the Bill again introduced into Parlia-
ment in the ensuing Session.

Finance HAct, 1899.—The Vestry received a
letter from the Inland Revenue Department,
stating that under the Finance Act, 1899, they
will have to notify the Inland Revenue Depart-
ment of any loan they may require, and that 2s. 6d.
in the £100 will have to be paid as stamp duty.
The duty is paid by the lending body, and charged
in the costs.

London Hydraulic Power Company’s Bill.—
The Vestry had before them the London Hydraulic
Power Company’s Bill, which provides that, in the
event of any local authority withholding their con-
sent or giving their consent conditional upon any
terms, conditions or stipulations, the Company
shall have the power of appealing to the Board of
Trade; and as it tended to curtail the rights of
local authorities, the Bill was opposed. Upon the
suggestion of the St. Luke’s Vestry, the Vestry
asked the County Council to undertake the oppo-
sition generally to the Bill, with the result that it
was rejected by the House of Commons.

Local Authorities Officers’ Superannuation
Bill.—The Vestry approved the principles of this
Bill, which provides for the superannuation of
officers and servants based upon a contribution
from salary, and presented a petition in favour of
the Bill, sealed with the Common Seal of the
Vestry.
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road : this proposition has the authority of Lord Selborne in
Robinson v. Local Board of Barton-FEceles {ﬂﬂ}ﬂ"m), where he
defines the meaning of a * new street.”” In my opinion the
object of section 77 of the Metropolis Management (Amend-
ment) Act is to deal with cases where there are vacant
spaces between the houses which are built on either side of
a 10ad, otherwise the owners of the houses alone would have
to pay and the owners of the vacant spaces would get off
free. 1In the case of Vestry of St. Mary (Battersea) v. Palmer
(supra), Wright, J., defines the meaning of section 77, and 1
agree with his interpretation of the section. In my opinion
therefore this appeal fails, and this road did not become a
« new street * until houses were built on either side, and the
Vestry were entitled to charge the paving expenses on the
frontagers.

Coruins and Romer, L.JJ., concurred.

Appeal dismissed.

ADJOURNED,

Memorial Portrait of the late Mr. R. E. Paget.—
In January, 1899, the Vestry appointed a Com-
mittee to place a memorial of the late Vestry Clerk
in the Town Hall. About £80 was collected from
the Vestrymen, Officials and others, with which the
Committee decided to have a portrait painted by
his brother, Mr. Sidney Paget. The portrait was
unveiled on the 18th May by Mr. A. Millward,
and handed over to the Vestry by the subscribers
as a memento of one who had served the parish
faithfully for so many years.

L

Office Staff.—In consequence of the death of
the Vestry Clerk, Mr. R. E. Paget, the Vestry con-
sidered as to filling the vacancy, and Mr. G. R.
Brown, the first Assistant Clerk, was appointed
to act as Vestry Clerk pro tem. for six months from
November 17th, 1898. In April, 1899, the whole
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The question of lighting the parish with an im-
proved system of incandescent gas lighting was
very fully considered by the Vestry. The contract
with the Welsbach Incandescent Gras Light Co., Litd.,
to light Rosebery Avenue from Farringdon Road to
St. John Street Road, St. John Street Road, from
Rosebery Avenue to Pentonville Road, and Garnault
Place west side expired on March 25th, 1899, and
was not renewed.

Notice having been given to the Gas Light and
Coke Co., that on and after the 1st of May, 1899,
the Vestry would take over the cleaning, lighting,
and maintenance of the street lamps in the Parish,
such work was taken over by the Vestry on that
date.

10 Lamplighters were engaged from the 1st May,
at 24s. per week, and u Gas Fitter to take charge of
the lighting at £2 5s. per week. The Liverpool
Street Lighting Co. commenced fixing the first
200 new lanterns during the first week in May, the
district first lighted being the whole of No. 1 Ward
and a portion of No. 3. A further 450 lanterns
were fixed, instead of 200, during the second six
months, after arranging with the Company that
only half the account was to be paid until after
Lady day.

The total number of public lamps in the Parish
at Lady day, 1900, was 949. These Lamps consist
of :—

314 square lanterns, with 5 ft. burners.
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149, Goswell Road.
186, St. John Street Road.
155, Goswell Road.

STREET WATERING.

The Street Watering was done by the Vestry’s
own vans, horses and men being hired except on
Sundays. The vans were out on 136 days,
including Sundays, the average number being
882. 6,480,000 gallons of water were used
being an increase of 783,000.

The total cost was as follows :—

L gl
Horse Hire, including driver - 600 1 6
Wages of own Carmen - O {5 T (1 1
Keep of Horses - - - 6 10 0
Repairs to Water Vans - -« .80 4 0
Repairs to Standposts - - gk T3
Cost of Water, including Rent
of Meters - - - - 199 16 O
£976 4 9

"CThe price of water for street watering was
owered to 6d. per 1,000 gallons.

The length of the streets to be watered 1is
approximately 20 miles; the cost per mile thus
being £48 16s. 4d.; the cost of distributing the
6,480,000 gallons was 1s. 11d. per 1,000 gallons.
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on May 12th. The Destructor was closed on 2 or
3 occasions for improvements to be effected.

The Destructor, therefore, wasworking practically
nine months, and, although the number of loads of
slop received at wharf was 1,254 more than the pre-
vious year, and the dust showed an increase of 325
loads, the cost of barge hire was only £45 11s. 9d.
more, notwithstanding an increase of 2d. per ton on
the registered tonnage, and the fact that during 3
months the whole of the rubbish carted to wharf
was barged away.

It 1is estimated that upwards of 3,000 tons of
rubbish were consumed that would previously have
been barged away at a cost of about £350.

The cost of the Destructor was as follows :—
Amount of original contract £1,089 0 0
Extra depth of foundations, 5

feet Portland cement con-

crete over whole site - - 193150
Repairing chimney shaft - ar. 0.0
Hipping roof - - - 80 0 0
Whip crane - - - - 2%:.:0:0
Repairing flue of horsekeeper’s

apartments - - - 2.0 .0
Stearn piping for heating

purposes - - - - o 0
Constructing drains - - 6.0 10
Lengthening chimney shaft - 21 16 0
Enclosing end of shed - - U i I

£1424 5 0
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MUSWELL HILL.

The plans for several new roads at Muswell Hill

were passed, and a very large amount of building
operations have been carried on.

It is satisfactory to state that the sewers laid by
the Vestry are working admirably, nothing beyond

the periodical flushing having been done to them
throughout the year.

Permission was given to the Post Office telegraph
authorities to fix telegraph poles on the footway in
Colney Hatch Lane for the purpose of connecting
a fire alarm by Barnard Hill with the Fire Station.

After negotiations extending over several months
an agreement was entered into between the Vestry
and the Wood Green Urban District Council with
reference to the surface water of that portion of
Clerkenwell detached that drains into the Wood
Green surface water sewers.

The costs of constructing sewers in Colney
Hatch Lane, Muswell Avenue North, Barnard
Hill, and Birkbeck Road were apportioned upon
the various owners of the houses or land abutting
on such roads. A very large amount of corres-
pondence ensued, and a number of the owners
decided to test the question as to their liability.
These proceedings were pending at the date this
report closes.
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New Roaps. —Upon the application of a large
number of the owners and occupiers, the Vestry
agreed to make up and pave the following streets,
upon tue condition that the estimated cost was
deposited with the Vestry before the work was
commenced, Viz. :—

Muswell Road, between Colney Hateh Lane
and Middleton Road.

Alexandra Park Road, between Colney Hatch
Lane and east side of Muswell Avenue.

Muswell Avenue, north and south portions.

CrErkENWELL Roap Paving. —The Works Com-
mittee having decided to recommend the Vestry to
re-pave the south side of this carriageway with
Aberdeen granite, a deputation waited upon the
Committee urging that wood paving be laid instead
of granite. This, the Committee were unable to
agree to unless the Tramway Company were willing
to pave their portion of the carriageway with similar
material. A large amount of correspondence took
place between the Vestry, the Tramway Company
and the London County Council, and every effort
was made to mnduce the Tramway Company to lay
down wood. The Company, however, refused to
do so, stating that their paving was in good con-
dition, and would last for several years. Under
the circumstances it was therefore eventually de-
cided to carry out the original proposal of the

Committee.
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JERUSALEM COURT.

Application was made by the owner of several of
the houses in this court for permission to block up
the entrance from St. John's Square, this was
refused.

VESTRY'S WORKMEN.

Masoxs anp Paviors.—The Vestry decided that
from May 1st, 1891, that the Masons, Paviors,
Rammermen, and labourers should be employed by
the hour instead of by the week. The wages paid
are: Masong and Paviors, 94d. per hour; Ram-
mermen, 7d. per hour; and Labourers, 6id. per
hour. Mr. James Gloag was appointed Road
Foreman to specially superintend all paving works.

CAB RANK.

The Commissioner of Police appointed a stand-
ing for three Hackney carriages in St. John Street
Road by Pentonville Road. It was suggested that
this would cause a congestion of traffic; it was
however decided to take no action at the time,
and no complaints have been received of any
nuisance arising therefrom.

SICK BENEFIT CLUB.

In consequence of the alteration in terms of em-
ployment of a large number of the workmen and to
the fact thataconsiderableamountof dissatisfaction
existed amongst various section of the members, the
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Abstract of principal paving and other works
executed during the year 1899-1900, and the

cost thereof.

WORKS EXECUTED BY CONTRACT.

£ B d
St. John Street Road (between Rose-
bery Avenue and Pentonville Road)

carriageway paved with hard wood 2,254 18 2
St. John Street Road (opposite Rose-
bery Avenue) carriageway paved

with new Aberdeen granite cubes- 350 5 6
Myddleton Street, Exmouth Street
and Rosoman Street (intersection
of) carriageway paved with com-

pressed Asphalte - - - - B72 3 8
White Lion Street (between Penton
Street and Baron Street) carriage-

way paved with dressed cubes - 561 17 9
Chadwell Street (between St. John
Street Road and Arlington Street)
carriageway pzwed with dressed

cubes - - - - BRa {Re
Clerkenwell Road, (sc}uth side) and
north side from Farringdon Road
to Sessions House Hotel, carriage-

way paved with Aberdeen granite
cubes - - - - - - 2,296 16 4

Carried forward - £6,018 14 0
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The amount of fat removed varied from 6-0 to 50°6 per cent.,
and the quantity of water added from 3-8 to 66-0 per cent., while
in one case both fat had been removed and water added.

Thirty-three samples of milk were taken on Sundays during
September, and no less than 12 of these (363 per cent.) proved to
be adulterated. In one case the fluid retailed as milk consisted of
one-third milk and two-thirds water. Of the 21 genuine
samples three were certified to be of very poor quality.

BUTTER.

Five (8:7 per cent.) of the samples of butter were found to
contain foreign fat (fat other than the fat of butter), as follows : —

No.of Sample Nature and Amount of Adulteration.
|
C3 11 | At least 80 per cent. of foreign fat.
C3 16 1] 70 " "
o2 SIS - ” ”
EI'B LE] Tﬁ Lk "
C2 88 T ” ”
WHISKY.

Only one sample of whisky was unduly diluted with water so
as to bring it in excess of the limit allowed by the Sale of Food
and Drugs Act Amendment Act. In this case, No. C 8 82, the
sample was 81'86 degrees under proof.

COFFEE.
One of the ten samples of coffee was found to contain at least
40 per cent. of chicory, and was certified accordingly.

PEPPER

Two (183 per cent.) of the samples of pepper were adulterated
with foreign starch—maize in both instances. No. C 2 96
contained 20 per cent. of this ingredient, and a sample submitted
by a private purchaser no less than 40 per cent.
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Scarlet Fever has become in recent years a much milder com-
plaint. Like measles, it falls most heavily on children under five
years of age, which points to the importance of protecting such
children from exposure to infection. Dr. Newsholme states that
“ chief among such means of infection is the attendance of children
in the infants’ class at school long before the age at which com-
pulsory school attendance begins.”

As far as could be traced no scarlet fever milk outbreak occurred

in the district during 18gg9, and no school had to be closed on
account of scarlet fever.

Diarthceea.—Under this term is included all forms of Diarrheea,
and also gastro-enteritis, for the reason that they are not separable
and probably are due to the same cause.* In all 126 deaths were
attributed to Diarrhcea during 1899, 108 of these were infants under
one year of age, This gives a death-rate for Diarrhcea of 1°g per
1,000, which is less than the year before, when it was 202 per 1,000.
The rate for the whole of London was 093 per 1,000. So that it will
be seen that Clerkenwell is considerably above the average.

The exact cause of Epidemic Diarrhcea is not at present known.
In a report to the Local Government Board in 1888 Dr. Ballard
attributed the disease to one or more of the following conditions :(—

1. Soil and Climatic Conditions—When the four-foot earth
thermometer reaches 56° F., the summer rise of epidemic
diarrhcea commences. Atmospheric temperature and rain-
fall exert an indirect influence as they affect the tempera-
ture of the soil. A loose permeable soil, habitually damp,
and polluted with organic matter and other refuse, due to
““ made soils,” town refuse or sewage leakage, is particu-
larly favourable to epidemic diarrheea. Possibly such
soil contains the ferment or microbes causing the
disease.

* The Royal College of Physicians has recently (1goo) laid down that
 gastro enteritis," '* muco enteritis,” " gastric catarrah,” and such synonyms of
epidemic diarrheea in medical certificates of death should be discarded. The
College of Physicians authorize the use of the terms '* Epidemic Enteritis " or
* Zymotic Enteritis" or '* Epidemic Diarrheea,”” to represent the condition.
;Fhere can be no doubt that some such standard will prove of great value in the
uture.
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Diphtheria rate in this district since 1890, and it places us
eighteenth on the list of the London districts as regards Diphtheria.

The following are the death rates from Diphtheria in Clerkenwell
during the last ten years:—
Years. | 1890. { 1891, | 1892. \ 1893. | 1894 | 1895. | 1896. | 1897. ] 1898. | 1899.

Death rates
due to
Diphtheria

This satisfactory result has probably been due in part to the
general decline in Diphtheria throughout the London area, and in

part to the arrangements which were made and carried out by the

051 | 062 [l"?&' 0-54 | 0°40

0-28 051

0-42 ﬂ'iﬂ‘ 1-15

late Dr. Glaister :—
1. Doubtful and mild cases of Diphtheritic sore throat-- which

were quite as infectious as severe Diphtheria —were
examined bacteriologically by the Jenner Institute of
Preventive Medicine at Chelsea. By this means mild
cases were detected and isolated. Thus, one of the most
subtle means of spreading the disease was averted.

2. Steam disinfection of the bedding, clothing, etc., in every
case of notifiable disease (except Erysipelas) was for the first
time established in this district. Whilst our own steam
disinfector was in course of construction, arrangements
were made with the Parish of St. Luke to do the necessary
work.

3. Recognizing that Clerkenwell was peculiar in having a
large number of houses ill-adapted for home nursing of
Diphtheria, special efforts were made to have cases
removed for treatment. The number of cases treated at
home in unsuitable houses was thus considerably

diminished.

In 1897 Dr. Glaister wrote : * It may be confidently anticipated
that their [these arrangements] effect will be evident in future
years.” The effect is now apparent in the lowest Diphtheria death-
rate since 18go. We can only trust it will continue.  As is now
generally recognised Diphtheria is spread most largely by
personal contact particularly among children. It is one of the
most difficult diseases to control, as it is caused by a germ, the life
history of which we do not fully know. The germ exists of coursé
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Diagvam to tllustrate the Death-rates per Thousaud in Clevkenwell
during 1899 from the Chief Zymotic Diseases, as compared with
(1) Pulmenary Diseases (not Phthisis) and (2) Phtlusts.,
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The daily average issue, excluding Sunday and Juvenile
figures, was 360, as against 382 volumesin 1898-99. Thereare
3,768 Adult Borrowers, of whom 407 hold Student’s tickets,
by which an additional non-fictional work may be obtained
for home reading. The number of Juvenile tickets in force
at March 31st, 1g9oo, was 2,168, excluding 276 tickets
available for the Lending Library.

Juvenile Room.—The total issues from this department
numbered 10,691 volumes, exclusive of the books placed on
open shelves for use in the Reading Room. Although the
attendance has fallen off considerably since the room was first
opened, there is no doubt that it is greatly appreciated by the
more studious boys and girls of the district. The Juvenile
Room was closed on Saturdays from 10 a.m. to 5 p.m. during
the months of June to September inclusive.

Sundays.—The Reference Reading Room remained open
on Sundays from 3 to g p.m. during the year, save from June
to September inclusive of 1899, when diminished attendances
led to its being closed. The total attendance for the eight
months was 4,168, a daily average of 122, while the
number of books issued for reading on the premises was 714,
a daily average of 21, as against an average of 129, and
29 respectively in 1898-gg.

Reading Rooms.—The number of visits to the NEwsroom
was about the same as in former years, namely a total of
547,690, or a daily average of 1,430. During acute stages of
the South African War the newspaper stands have been
greatly crowded, and it is evident that the newsroom durirg
the past six months has been a centre for the distribution of
news which could not have been provided by any other means.

The Rererenck Reaping Room has maintained its popu-
larity, and it is estimated that the total number of visits during
the year exceeded 140,000. Various improvements in the
arrangement of this department are being effected, among
them being :

Open Reference Shelves,—The main Reading Room will be
divided across its length by means of a large book-case, which
will form a partition between departments devoted to open
shelves of reference books, and a magazine reading room,
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PorTER, B. H., the Publisher e e . 1
PorTsmouTH, LIERARY COMMITTEE o - o 1
QUEENSLAND, Agent-General. Parcel of litevature, maps, chavls, efc.

Rovar CoLONIAL INSTITUTE - : L 1
Ruskin MuseUM, SHEFFIEED s = i 1
SaLForD RovaL Museum AND LIBRARIES e = 1
SmitH, P., of West Kensington o A, . 3
SmiTHsONIAN INsTITUTE, WaAsHINGTON, U.S. = X 4
Stuees PueLisHiNnG Co. .. ok B . 2
Tasmania, Agent-General s a:n 4 4 3
THoMmas, Mrs. Rose H., the Authovess .. i = 1
Tucker, Captain C., the Author k -
TurxER, SHARON G. =8 s =i 4
UnivErsiTy CoLLEGE. LoNDON iis s oA 1
UniviErsITY CorRresPONDENCE COLLEGE, LoNDON s I
Victoria, Agent-General o . i -t 2
Wacrton, J., of Clerkenwell. An old Clerkenwell made Watch
WESTERN AUSTRALIA, Agent-Geneval .. 2 i 1

=

Wirpsorg, T., of Clerkenwell. . .o o i

Libraries, Public and other; Reports and Catalogues:—

AMERICAN : Baltimore (Enoch Pratt); Bridgeport; Boston; Brookline ;
Chicago (Armour Institute); Chicago (Public) ; Detroit; Grand Rapids
Los Angeles ; Newark ; New Haven (Yale University) ; New York (Aguilar;
Circulating; Maimonides; Mechanics; Mercantile; Public); Phila-
delphia ; Providence; St. Louis; Salem; Scranton.

BriTisH : Aberdegn; Arbroath:; Ashton-under-Lyne; Aston Manor;
Ayr; Belfast; Birmingham; Blackburn; Blackpool; Bolton; Bootle ;
Bradford ; Brentford; Brighouse; Brighton; Bristol ; Bromley ; Buxton ;
Cambridge; Cardiff; Carlisle; Cheltenham ; Colchester; Cork;
Croydon; Dewsbury; Doncaster; Ealing; Falmouth; Folkestone ;
Glasgow (Baillie’s Institution; Stirling’s Library); Great Yarmouth ;
Handsworth ; Hindley; Hove; Kettering ; Kidderminster ; Kingston-on-
Thames; Leamington; Leeds; Leek; Leyton; Lincoln; Liverpool;
Longton; Manchester ; Middlesborough; Millom ; Newcastle; Notting-
ham ;: Oxford (University Library); Penarth ; Peterborough; Plymouth ;
Portsmouth : Preston; Richmond; Rochdale; Rothwell; Runcorn;
St. Helens; Sale; Sheffield; Stafford; Tonbridge; Tottenham ;
Twickenham ; Tynemouth; Walsall; Watford ; West Ham ; Widnes;
Wigan ; Willesden (three branches) ; Wimbledon; Worcester; York.
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Rate. (Applause.) Birmingham, which is not ten times the size of
Clerkenwell, has, besides a very fine central library, ten branch libraries,
and no one complains that there are too many. Though some of these
branches are as close together as our central library and this branch,
not cne is found superfluous, but, on the contrary, highly successful,
and if there is any outcry at all it is in favour of having more branches.
Those present nearly all knew of the difficulties with which they had
to contend with in the central institution. Its establishment and working
was very uphill work for the Committee of Management, who had to
face opposition not only in the Vestry, but in the parish generally. It
was very difficult work, but they had succeeded. npretentious as was
the beginning they were now making in Pentonville, he looked forward
to it as a good thing, not alone for the inhabitants of that portion of
Clerkenwell, but also for those of the slice of Islington which was to
be incorporated in the Borough of Finsbury under the new Act. Some
opponents of the establishment of that branch argued that there was
no necessity for it, as the Central Library was sufficiently convenient
that any one who required a book could, without much loss of time,
fetch it. But they must remember that it was a very densely populated
neighbourhood, studded over with model dwellings, mainl};r inhabited
by the industrial classes, who toiled long and hard, and who, when
they returned to their homes at night, were not inclined to further exer-
tion. 1f a book was at hand, they might remain at home during the
evening, but with nothing to fill their leisure and occupy their minds,
the probability was that they would seek relaxation in the glare and
chatter of an adjacent public-house. He himself at one time was much
prejudiced against public libraries, but since he had been a member
of the Committee of Management he had derived great pleasure and
instruction from reading, in fact, he had found in the well-filled and
carefully selected book-shelves of the Clerkenwell Library a source of
enjoyment that he had never in his life experienced before. This con-
clusively, to his mind, proved that if they expected improvement in the
habits of the people they must offer them some counter attractions to
those which many now too frequently indulged in in their spare moments.
They must, therefore, rejoice that they were able to place this establish-
ment in that district, where it was very much required by the people.
Referring again to the extension of district libraries in Birmingham, he
said that that town was the most forward in the United Kingdom in
everything that an Englishman was proud of. [A voice: Except in
politics. (Laughter.)] He was not there in a political capacity, so he
would not discuss the point. If by their patronage of the Institution
the people of the district showed that they appreciated the efforts of
the committee, they would not alone increase the accommodation, but
would try at some future date to establish a fully equipped library in
their midst. The Chairman concluded by formally declaring the
establishment open.

Mr. CrowLE-SMITH begged to propose that a hearty vote of thanks
be given to their Chairman for his kindness in declaring the branch
open, and for his hospitality. (Hear, hear.) He might say that the
action of the Library Committee was due directly to the mandate they
had received from the electors of No. 1 Ward. Tt was a significant
fact, and one that should not be overlooked, that the body of gentlemen
who were returned from that ward to the Vestry, while some of them
differed diametrically in politics, were unanimous—speaking for the
residents—that that Branch Library should be opened, and it was in
response to that wish that these rooms were now ready for use. (Ap-
plause.) He need not tell those that knew him that he was an en-







